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OESCRIBE THME PRESENT AND CRIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE
Keswick is situated on the south bank of the James River, in the northeast

corner of Powhatan County, with a small portion of the plantation lapping
‘over into adjacent Chesterfield County. K Almost directly across the river is
Tuckahoe, which the Keswick house closely resembles in its H-shaped plan.
'Several of Keswick's outbuildings survive including an enigmatic circular

. structure long thought to have been slave quarters.

‘The dwelling house at Keswick, apparently constructed early in the nineteenth

century, is a two-story, gablée-roofed, frame-thh-weatherboard bulldxng. It
is supported on brick foundations and has a brick exterior end chimney on

each gable. Each chimney has two sets of stepped weatherings and a corbelle%
cap. All of the brickwork is laid in three-course American bond.

The south wing is three bays wide, lighted by windows with plain architrave
frames and nine-over-nine sash. The doorway also has a plain architrave
frame and double three-panel doors with square panels at the top and two
long rectangular ones underneath., Over the door is an odd elliptical fan
decoration which is somewhat wider than the door itself. A flight of steps
leads up to a gable-roofed porch supported by pairs of Doric colonettes

echoed by pilasters. The soffit of the porch is elliptically vaulted to cony

form in size and shape with the decoration over the door, and the full en-
tablature, with its plain frieze and denticulated cornice, is returned to
the wall inside the vault. A simple box cornice crowns the facade, and
tapered bargeboards rake the gables. o -

The north front is also three bays wide, but the lower left window has been
changed. This elevation has double exterior doors, one into each of the two
rooms in the north wing. . A long, unroofed porch leads to them both, and a

gable-roofed bulkhead in the lower east corner provides access to the cellar|

‘Another entrance is on the east side of the connecting wing in the southern
of the two bays. This entrance has an architrave door frame sheltered by a
distinctive gable~roofed hood with an ovoid cove of uncertain vintage. (A
similar hood is over a door in the east gable of the north wing.) The west
.side of the connecting wing is covered by a two-story porch which is sllght-
ly recessed from the gables of the cross-wing. ‘ -

In plan, the dwelling house at Keswick consists of two rooms, one larger
than the other, in each of the end wings, with a stair hall occupying the
whole of the connecting wing. (A bathroom has recently been installed in the
northeast corner of this central hall, opposite the stairway.)

Keswick's interior woodwork is restrained in detail and in quantity, but it
is skillfully executed. The most elaborate woodwork is in the south wing
where the two rooms are separated by a magnificent doorway with an ellipti-
cal carved fan. The ceiling is tangential to the top of the fan, and the
plaster cornice is broken accordingly. Small carved shells in the top rail
of the door frame swing down to secure the pair of accordian doors. Each
door consists of three leaves with three horizontal raised panels over a
broad lock rail beneath which is a large panel, slightly taller than it is
wide.

(see continuation sheet #1)
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7. Description (continued)

In the west, or larger, room of this wing, the slightly projecting chimney face
is decorated by a mantel consisting of a plain Tuscan pilaster on either side
of the opening, a plain frieze, and an elaborately molded cornice and shelf,

A plaster cornice and a symmetrically molded chair rail are carried around the
‘room, The mantel in the east room of this wing is similar but scmewhat more
elaborate. The shelf molding is plainer, but the pilasters are molded. A tall
elliptical medallion is carved in the frieze over each pilaster, and a long
elliptical sumburst similar in style to the fan over the folding doors occupies
most of the frieze over the fireplace opening. The room is skirted by a chair
rail similar to that in the west room,

The stair hall in the connecting wing is decorated by a chair rail with a bead
on each edge and a simple torus molding is used, The stairs, in the northwest
corner, are plain with two square balusters to a tread.

Keswick's outbuildings are to the east and north of the house, between it and
the river. Beginning with the southeastermmost building and proceeding coun-
terclockwise, they include a well house, a smoke house, the circular "slave
quarters," a kitchen, a two-story brick house, a shed, and a laundry.

The original function of the circular building is undetermined. Built in
three~course American bond, with thirteen~foot high walls, the structure is
about thirty-five feet in diameter. Its conical roof is surmounted by a six~
foot high, five-foot diameter circular chimney. Plain frames and rowlock
lintels enclose the door and the five windows with their six-over-six sash.
These openings divide the circumference into six regular arcs, and the three
fireplaces in the central stack are each directly on axis with a window. The
present floor is dirt, but a brick floor reportedly lined the imterior at one
time, Scars on the interior walls reveal the former existence of a gallery
eight ~and-one~half feet from the present floor, and it is claimed in an arti-
cle written thirty-five years ago that structural evidence of the gallery s
division into sixteen compartments could be seen at that time.

The two-story building has ‘a parapet gable roof and interior end chimneys with
corbelled caps, and is laid in Flemish and three~course American bond, One
source suggests that this was an overseers house; others claim that it was the
original, mid-eighteenth century dwelling house, but the nineteenth-century-
style brickwork with its absence of any glazing, gauging or water table belies
this. The front of the house is three bays wide at second-floor level, but
four at first-floor level, the two center bays being occupied by doors. This
scheme reflects the north facade of the main house, which the brick dwelling
faces across the yard. The rear elevation is two bays wide. The windows all
have six~over-six sash and louvered blinds. In plan, the structure is a Tide-
water hall-and-parlor house with a large western room and a closed staixrway
running from back to frout against the inner partition of this room.  The only
variation from the type is the existence of an outside door into each room,
The east second-floor room has a plain early-republican-style mantel and
battened closet doors in which the altermate vertical planks are reeded.

(see continuation sheet #2) cro 921.728
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7. Description (continued)

The laundry is also a brick building one-story high laid in three-course
American bond, with a hipped roof and a central chimney with corbelled cap.
The facade is divided into four bays; the outside two are doors, and the inner
two are windows with six-over=-six sash and louvered blinds. The kitchen,
except for being gable-roofed and having an exterior end chimney, is a half-
version of the laundry, ' ' .

The smokehouse is a square frame building covered with flush boarding. It
features a box cornice, a high pyramidal roof, and a batten door with long
strap hinges, Also on the grounds are the graves of Major John Clarke, the
probable builder of Keswick, and his granddaughter, Rosabelle Burfoot. .
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

" to be offered, it would not be unreasonable to suggest that the brick

Keswick is an important component of a distinguished group of eighteenth
and nineteenth-century plantations lining the James River above Richmond.
It is individually significant for its distinctive plantation complex con-
taining a notable collection of outbuildings which includes an enigmatic
circular structure whose original function has not been determined. With
its varied forms and apparent single building period, the complex has much
to teach about the physical layout and social organization of early-nine-
teenth-century plantation life. The main house is important both for its
fine woodwork and for its unusual H-shaped plan. This plan was influenced
by Tuckahoe, the famous colonial plantation house built just across the
river almost seventy years earlier. The Keswick house stands, then, as
graphic evidence of the regional and temporal unity of James River society,

Architectural evidence indicates that the Keswick buildings were erected
sometime early in the nineteenth century by Major John Clarke (1766-1844)
on land inherited from his father (or grandfather) Charles Clarke.. The
younger Clarke founded the Bellona Arsenal on the Chesterfiéld portion of
his pr0perty, and reportedly built the State Armory (1794), at Gamble s Hill]
and Latrobe's State Penitentiary, both in Richmond. ,

: S S LT
If a structural evolution of the erection of the buildings at Keswick were

house, with its slipshod brickwork, was erected hastily for the accommoda-
tion of the family while a new dwelling house, possibly on the site of an
earlier one, was built, The parapeted gables, jack arches, Flemish-bond
facade, and traditional plan and stairs of the brick building argue for
its being slightly earlier than the main house and its other outbuildings.
The main house, as mentioned above, is a slightly smaller version of the
Tuckahoe form. Unlike Tuckahoe, the stairs at Keswick are in the connect-
ing, rather than the end wings. The similarity between the north facade
of the frame main house and the south facade of the brick building surely
represents some attempt at the formal unification of Keswick's buildings.
The circular building is a total mystery.
ing so close to the house would be used as slave quarters, but there is a
strong tradition that this was its function. More probably it was used
for some sort of specialized processing as.yet undetermined. .

At the death of John Clarke, his three daughters and two grandchildren in-
herited the property. 1In the 1870's, a John S. Bellamy began buying share
of Keswick from the heirs, and in 1884 was awarded a total of 465 acres of

It seems unlikely that a build- |

(see continuation sheet #3)
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it through a chancery suit, Carrington aund Bellamy v. Archer et. al,, in the
Cireuit Court of Chesterfield County. Bellamy's heirs held the estate until
1930, when it was sold to G. C. Kirlmeyer. Keswick changed hands several
more times until it was acquired by its present owners. - : I
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